A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Hai Minh Nguyen, the appellant below, seeks review of

the appended Court of Appeals decision in State v. Nguyen, No. 74358-9-I,

filed July 17, 2017.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The trial evidence showed numerous acts of oral-genital

contact before and after T.P. turned 12. The jury was not instructed that it

was required to rely on separate and distinct acts to convict of first degree

child rape and first degree child molestation. Nor was the jury instructed

it was required to rely on separate and distinct acts to convict of second

degree child rape and second degree child molestation. May a

prosecutor's election as to the different acts in closing argument remedy

jury instructions that allow for a double jeopardy violation to occur?

2a. There is no evidence that sexually explicit or erotic

materials played any role in the crimes. Does the community custody

condition banning sexually explicit materials exceed the trial court's

sentencing authority because it is not crime-related?

2b. Is the community custody condition banning sexually

explicit materials void for vagueness?
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Nguyen with first degree rape of a child, first

degree child molestation, second degree rape of a child, and second degree

child molestation. CP 21-22.

According to T.P., who lived with her parents, younger sister, and

Nguyen, Nguyen massaged and sucked on her breasts, inserted his fingers

into her vagina, and performed oral sex on her on an almost weekly basis

when she was between ages six and 13. RP 67-68, 134, 138-40, }43-55.

T.P. also testified Nguyen penetrated her vagina with his penis on one

occasion when she was 11. RP 157-58.

T.P.'s sister testified she witnessed one occasion in the kitchen

during which T.P.'s underwear was pulled down and Nguyen's hand was in

her crotch area. RP 231-34. T.P. also said she saw Nguyen lying on top of

T.P. on a treadmill on another occasion. RP 235-37.

The jury was provided four to-convict instmctions for each count.

CP 38, 41, 44, 47. The jury was also instmcted that it ?must unanimously

agree as to which act has been proved" for each count. CP 39, 42, 45, 48.

However, the trial court did not instmct the jury that each coiu'it must arise

from a separate and distinct act in order to convict.
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The State argued in closing that the jury should rely on the digital

penetrations and oral-genital contact for the child rape charges and the breast

touching for the child molestation charges. RP 482-84.

The jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. CP 51-54; RP 525-

28. For first degree child rape, first degree child molestation, and second

degree child rape, the trial court imposed concurrent indeterminate sentences

of 279, 173.5, and 245 months to life, respectively, and lifetime community

custody. CP 60; R?P 557. The court imposed a concurrent determinate

101.5-month sentence for the second degree child molestation conviction

along with a 36-month community custody term. CP 59; RP 557.

The trial coiut also imposed a community custody condition

restricting access to sexually explicit and erotic materials:

Do not possess, use, access or view any sexually
explicit material as defined by RCW 9.68.130 or erotic
materials as defined by RCW 6.68.050 or any material
depicting any person engaged in sexually explicit conduct as
defined by RCW 9.68.050 or any material depicting any
person engaged in sexually explicit conduct as defined by
RCW 9.68A.O11(4) unless given prior approval by your
sexual deviancy provider.

CP65.

Nguyen appealed, asserting that the jury instructions permitted the

jury to rely on the same act of oral-genital contact for first degree child rape

and first degree child molestation and the same act of oral-genital contact for
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second degree child rape and second degree child molestation, thereby

violating his Fifth Amendrnent and article I, section 9 rights to be free from

double jeopardy. Br. of Appellant at 4-14. Nguyen also asserted that the

prohibition on sexually explicit materials is both unconstihitionally vague

and not crime-related. Br. of Appellant at 21-30.

The Coiut of Appeals acknowledged that, under State v. Land, 172

Wn. App. 593, 600, 295 P.3d 782 (2013), when acts of oral-genital contact

are at issue, the acts constitute both child molestation and child rape, and are

not separately punishable. Appendix at 4. The court also acknowledged that

"jury instructions must require that the rape of a child and child molestation

counts be based on separate and distinct acts" and that "the absence of such

language [in jury instmctions] presents the potential for double jeopardy."

Appendix at 4. However, the Court of Appeals found no double jeopardy

violation, concluding it was manifestly apparent to the jury that the State was

not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense. Appendix

at 4-s. The Court of Appeals came to this conclusion by focusing solely on

the prosecutor's closing argument, which distinguished between various

conduct.l Appendix at 6-7.

' The Court of Appeals claimed it did "not rely on the State's closing argument in
isolation. As discussed, other factors recognized in the 'manifestly apparent' cases are
also present." Appendix at 8. Aside from listing these other factors, however, the Court
of Appeals provided no discussion of the presence or absence of these factors in this case.
Given that the jury instructions did not include the required separate-and-distinct
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The Court of Appeals concluded that simply because Nguyen had

been convicted of sex crimes, it was crime-related to impose a commiu'iity

custody ban on accessing, viewing, use, and possession of all sexually

explicit materials. Appendix at 11-12. Although the Court of Appeals could

point to nothing specific that related sexually explicit materials to the

circumstances of the crime, it nonetheless concluded that "acts of sexual

deviancy involving the inability to control sexual conduct" was ?reasonably

related to restricting access to sexually explicit or erotic material.? Appendix

atl2.

As for vagueness, despite Nguyen's arguments and authority that

various statutory definitions led to arbitrary enforcement and failed to

provide fair notice of the prohibited materials, Br. of Appellant at 21-27, the

Court of Appeal claimed Nguyen cited no authority. Appendix at 11 n.35.

Thus, without even a hint of analysis regarding the statutory definitions, the

court concluded, ?Consistent with the statutory definitions, the terms are not

beyond the understanding of an ordinary person.? Appendix at 11.

language, the only thing the Court of Appeals could have relied on in finding no double
jeopardy violation was the prosecutor's closing argument.

-5-



D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. THE CASE LAW OF THIS COURT AND THE COURT

OF APPEAIS IS INCONSISTENT ABOUT WHETHER A

PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT MAY

R?EMEDY J[?JRY INSTRUCTIONS THAT PERMIT A

DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION

Can a prosecutor's closing argument cure jury instructions that

plainly permit a double jeopardy instmction to occur'? Nguyen was under

the impression that this court already answered this question in State v. Kier,

164 Wn.2d 798, 814, 194 P.3d 312 (2008), and that the answer was no.

In Kier, the State asserted second degree assault and first degree

robbery convictions did not merge because they were committed against two

different victims. Id. at 808. This court concluded it was unclear whether

the jury believed Kier committed the crimes against the same or different

victims, analogizing "to a multiple acts case." Id. at 811. Because the

instructions and the evidence at trial permitted the jury to consider a single

person as the victim of both the assault and the robbery, the verdict was

ambiguous. Id. at 814. Therefore, the assault merged with the robbery. Id.

This was so notwithstanding the prosecutor's argument that one man

was the robbery victim and the other man was the assault victim. Id. The

State claimed the risk that the jury would believe the same man was the

victim of both crimes "was eliminated because the prosecutor made a 'clear

election' of which act supported each charge, as is allowed in a multiple acts
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case.? Id. at 813. This court disagreed: ?While the prosecutor at the close of

the trial attempted to require this finding, the jury was properly instmcted to

base its verdict on the evidence and instmctions and not on the arguments of

counsel." Id. The court de:termined there was a double jeopardy violation

because the instructions allowed the jury to find either man to be the victim

of the robbery and assault "notwithstanding the State's closing argument.?2

Id. at 814.

Kier, and not the prosecutor's election of specific conduct, should

control the disposition of this case. 'r.p. alleged penile penetration, digital

penetration, oral-genital contact, and oral and digital contact with the breasts.

RP 140, }44-46, 151-54, 163-64. There were far more acts alleged than

charges. Several of the acts involved penetration and oral-genital contact,

which the State argued were the child rapes, and several of the acts involved

touching T.P.'s breasts, which the State argued were the child molestations.

But the jury instmctions drew no such distinction. The evidence presented

drew no such distinction. Nothing except for the State's closing argument

suggested the jury should not rely on the same act of oral-genital contact for

first degree child rape and first degree child molestation. Nothing except for

2 This conclusion was consistent with how the jury was instructed in this case and how it
is instructed in every other case. CP 28 (instructing jury that lawyers' arguments are not
the law); Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 813 (despite prosecutor's argument, "the jury was properly
instructed to base its verdict on the evidence and instructions and not on the arguments of
counsel").
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the State's closing argument suggested the jury should not rely on the same

act of oral-genital contact for second degree child rape and second degree

child molestation. Under Kier, the State's arguments did not overcome the

potential for double jeopardy, so both child molestation convictions must be

vacated. Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Kier on the

constitutional question of double jeopardy, review is warranted under RAJ'

13.4(b)(1) and (3).

In an attempt to distinguish Kier, the Court of Appeals claimed it did

not rely solely on the prosecutor's argument Appendix at 8. Instead,

according to the Court of Appeals, ?other factors recognized in the

'manifestly apparent' cases are also present." Appendix at 8. The Court of

Appeals did not discuss the application of these other factors, however; it

just listed them without analysis.?' Appendix at 6.

3 Going through these factors, separate to-convict instructions are of marginal
value because they still fail to specify that the jury must rely on separate and distinct acts.
State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 367-68, 165 P.3d 417 (2007), clearly held the
principal error was failing to instruct with the separate-and-distinct language, and that the
failure to use separate to-convict instructions merely "compounded" this error.

The evidence presented at Nguyen's trial was nebulous as to the various acts-
while there was one specific act of penile penetration T.P. testified about, she testified
about all the other acts only in general terms. Thus, this was not a case where the "clarity
of evidence" presented would have naturally or necessarily led the jury to rely on
separate and distinct acts for the rapes and molestations.

As for the factor pertaining to whether the defense challenged the credibility of
the victim rather than the number of acts or whether the acts overlapped, no court has
ever explained why the nature of the defense makes any difference when considering a
defendant's exposure to double jeopardy. If the instructions pemiit the jury to rely on the
same act to find both child rape and child molestation, defense arguments camiot
overcome the potential for double jeopardy any more than the State's arguments can.
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The Court of Appeals also relied primarily on State v. Pefia Fuentes,

179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). Appendix at s-7. But Pefia Fuentes is

also inconsistent with Kier. In addressing whether the failure to give the

separate-and-distinct act instructions, this court relied on the prosecutor's

closing argument, concluding that it was "manifestly apparent that the

convictions were based on separate acts because the prosecution made a

point to clearly distinguish between the acts that would constitute rape of a

child and those that would constitute child molestation." Peria Fuentes, 179

Wn.2d at 825. As discussed, in Kier this court said a prosecutor's argument

could not cure a double jeopardy problem. Peria Fuentes says the opposite,

highlighting the conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and Kier on

a constitutional issue. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

Pefia Fuentes also conflicts with the principal decision it relied on,

State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). Pefia Fuentes, 179

Wn.2d at 825 (discussing ?). In ? there were five alleged

incidents, five charges, and five convictions, leading this court to conclude

that it was manifestly apparent to the jury that it was to rely on separate and

distinct acts for each count. 171 Wn.2d at 665. This was a "rare

circumstance." Id. The court also noted that such double jeopardy ?review

is rigorous and is among the strictest.? Id. at 664.
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The Peria Fuentes decision did not heed M!!!!;?!l's admonitions.

Instead, it concluded that it was manifestly apparent to the jury that it must

rely on separate and distinct acts given the prosecutor "divided Pefia

Fuentes's behaviors into two categories-the acts involving penetration,

which constituted rape, and the other inappropriate acts, which constituted

molestation." 179 Wn.2d at 825. The court concluded, ?Because of the

clarity in the prosecutor's closing argument, we believe it is 'manifestly

apparent' that the jury convicted Pefia Fuentes based on separate and distinct

acts.? Id. at 826.

The rigorous and strict review the Mutch court endorsed cannot be

squared with Pefia Fuentes. The "rare circumstance? where deficient

instructions do not effect a double jeopardy violation has somehow become

the pervasive circiunstance. ?, State v. Benson, No. 74815-7-I, 2017

WL 3017517, at *5 (Jul. 17, 2017) (unpublished) (finding no double

jeopardy violation primarily because "the State's closing argument was

clear?); State v. Duenas, No. 48119-7-II, 2017 WL 2561589, at * 15 (Jun. 13,

2017) (unpublished) (finding no double jeopardy violation where the

prosecutor conflated child rape and child molestation in closing, but thee

"evidence and jury instmctions made it manifestly apparent to the jury that

each count involved distinct acts of sexual assault, even if the acts were part

of the same incident?); State v. Miller, No. 33252-7-III, 2017 WL 959539, at
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*5 (Mar. 7, 2017) (unpublished) (no double jeopardy violation because "the

prosecutor repeatedly distinguished between the acts the State alleged as a

basis for the rape charge and the acts the State alleged as a basis for the

molestation charge?).

These cases, alongside Nguyen's, show that the exception in Mutch

has become the role. The coiuts are not applying the holding of Kier, either.

The decisions of the Washington courts are in disarray and should be

resolved by granting review of this case pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

Finally, as an important policy matter, courts should be protecting

against any risk of effecting double jeopardy, not indulging flimsy

presumptions to blind themselves to constitutional violations. For more than

20 years, the courts have stated how to protect against the violation that

occurred here-by including separate-and-distinct-act language in the jury

instructions. See State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 431, 914 P.2d 788

(1996). The State also has another tool-the special verdict form-to ensure

the jury relies on separate and distinct acts. The State did not make use of

these tools, indicating that it was at best indifferent about whether it was

"seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense.? Mutch, 179

Wn.2d at 664. Because there is no way to determine in fact that the jury did

not rely on the same acts, the benefit of the doubt regarding a potential

double jeopardy violation should be given to the accused, not to the State.
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See Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 813-14; State v. DeRyke, 110 Wn. App. 815, 824,

41 P.3d 1225 (2002) (because there was no way to determine the jury had

not in fact considered the kidnapping as the elevating element, the role of

lenity applied to merge kidnapping into attempted rape). Review of this

issue is warranted under every RAP 13 .4(b) criterion.

2. THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THE VAGUENESS

PRINCIPLES AT ISSUE IN STATE v. BAHL4 AND WITH
SEVERAL COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

HOLDING THAT A BAN ON SEXUAI?,LY EXPLICIT

MATERIALS IS NOT CRIME-RELATED

a. A ban on sexually explicit materials is not crime-
related and therefore exceeds the trial court's

sentencing authority

The trial court has authority to require an offender to comply with

"any crime-related prohibitions.? RCW 9.94A.703(3)(f). A crime-related

prohibition means "an order of a court prohibiting conduct that dj?

relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been

convicted . . . .? RCW 9.94A.030(10) (emphasis added).

The prohibition on sexually explicit and erotic materials has nothing

to do with this case. There was no evidence or information presented that

possessing, viewing, using, or accessing sexually explicit or erotic materials

directly related to any circumstance of the crime.

4 State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).
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The Court of Appeals principally relied on State v. Magana, 197 Wn.

App. 189, 201, 389 P.3d 654 (2016), to conclude, ?Conditions regarding

'access to X-rated movies, adult book stores, and sexually explicit materials'

are crime-related and properly imposed for sex offenses.? Appendix at 12.

The court also indicated that ?Viewed in the light most favorable to the

State, [Nguyen's acts] constituted acts of sexual deviancy involving the

inability to control sexual conduct.? Appendix at 12. This does not

represent valid legal reasoning but prudish presumptions regarding sexual

materials and sexuality. The decision assumes that the commission of a sex

crime renders an offender ipso facto incapable of reasonably or responsibly

possessing and using sexually explicit materials, even where such materials

played absolutely no role in the crime and no evidence suggests they would

cause difficulty controlling behavior. The decision also usurps the role of

the legislature, which has indicated that community custody prohibitions

must directly relate to the circumstances of the crime. RCW 9.94A.030(10).

And, it might very well be that having access to certain materials might

enable an pffender to better control sexual conduct. The legislature, not the

Court of Appeals, should be making these policy decisions. Review of this

issue is warranted under RAJ' 13 .4(b)(4).

In addition, in cases where there is no evidence or information

indicating sexually explicit or erotic materials related to the crime, the Court
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of Appeals has consistently struck community custody conditions, until now.

In State v. Kinzle, 181 Wn. App. 774, 785, 326 P.3d 870 (2014), the

defendant was convicted of molesting two children. The trial court imposed

a community custody prohibition on possessing sexually explicit materials

and Kinzle challenged this condition on appeal, asserting it was not crime-

related. Id. The Court of Appeals agreed, striking the condition because no

evidence suggested such materials were related to or contributed to his

crime. Id.

The Court of Appeals has stmck down several similar comrniu'iity

custody conditions because they are not crime-related. See, e.g., Sjg?.

?, 144 Wn. App. 772, 776, 184 P.3d 1262 (2008) (holding that ban on

accessing sexual material on internet was not crime-related because there "is

no evidence that O'Cain accessed the intemet before the rape or that internet

use contributed in any way to the crime?); State v. Stewart, noted at 196 Wn.

App. 1046, 2016 WL 2649834, at *3 (2016) (unpublished) (holding trial

court exceeded statutory authority imposing prohibition on possessing

sexually explicit material because ?there was no evidence before the trial

court that Stewart's use or possession of sexually explicit material related to

his crime of indecent liberties?); State v. Hasselgrave, noted at 184 Wn. App.

1021, 2014 WL 5480364, at * 12 (2014) (unpublished) (prohibition on going

to establishments promoting ?commercialization of sex" not reasonably

-14-



crime-related where no evidence suggested such establishments related to

crime defendant's crime of child rape); State v. Clausen, noted at 181 Wn.

App. 1019, 2014 WL 2547604, at *8 (2014) (unpublished) (conditions

prohibiting possessing sexually explicit material and patronizing

establishments that promote commercialization of sex not crime-related

because no evidence suggested Clausen possessed sexually explicit material

in connection with crime of child rape); State v. Whipple, noted at l 74 Wn.

App. 1068, 2013 WL 1901058, at *6 (2013) (unpublished) (prohibition on

possessing and frequenting establishments that deal in sexually explicit

materials not crime-related where nothing in record suggested child rape

offenses involved such materials or establishments).

Because the Coiut of Appeals decision here conflicts with Kinzle,

?, and several other cases, review is warranted under RAP 13 .4(b)(2).

b. The Court of Appeals decision neglects any
meaningful vagueness analysis and otherwise
conflicts with Bahl and common sense

In State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008), this court

struck down a community custody ban against possessing pornography

because it was unconstitutionally vague. The Bahl court declined to decide

whether the statutes defining "sexually explicit material," "erotic material,?

and "depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct? would

provide sufficient notice. Id. at 762.
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The Court of Appeals stated that the statutory definitions were not

unconstitutionally vague without analyzing them, dismissing Nguyen's

arguments that the statutory definitions could lead to uncertain because he

?cite[d] no authority for his hypothetical scenarios. See Appellant's Br. at

23-26.? Appendix at 11 & n.35. On the contrary, Nguyen relied on the

statutory language, Bahl's analysis, and the authority cited in Bahl to argue

that the statutory definitions fail to provide fair notice of what is permitted

and what is prohibited. Br. of Appellant at 21-27. The Court of Appeals just

failed to address these arguments.

As this court stated in Bahl, pornography may ?include any nude

depiction, whether a picture from Playboy Magazine or a photograph of

Michelangelo's sculpture of David." 164 Wn.2d at 756. The same is true of

the sexually explicit or erotic materials defined in the statutes at issue here.

To qualify as "sexually explicit material" under RCW 9.68.130(2),

the material must "emphasize the depiction? of the genitals. Thus, a simple

nude might or might not qualify under this definition, depending on who

thinks the genitals were emphasized. Reasonable minds also surely would

differ on whether a particular depiction shows "flagellation or torture in the

context of a sexual relationship.? And the statute exempts ?works of art or

of anthropological significance"-how would an ordinary person know

-16-



whether a depiction fell inside or outside this exception? The statutory

definition leads to more questions than answers. It is not fair notice.

Several definitions of ?sexually explicit conduct" in RCW

9.68A.O1 1(4) lack specificity as well. It would be difficult to fairly identify

images that showed masturbation or sadomasochistic abuse-?oes Pablo

Picasso's Rape of the Sabine Women qualify? Does Luis Bufiuel's Belle de

Jour? And under RCW 9.68A.Ol1 (4)(e), (f), and (g), the depictions must be

created ?for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer." Without

knowing the purpose for which a depiction was created, it is impossible to

know whether the depiction shows sexually explicit conduct under the

statutory definition.

To be "erotic material? under RCW 6.68.050(2), the material must

be ?utterly without redeeming social value.? This definition could never

provide fair notice in advance to distinguish between permitted and

proscribed materials.

The Bahl court relied heavily on the Third Circuit's decision in

United States v. Loy, which stated,

we could easily set forth numerous examples of books and
films containing sexually explicit material that we could not
absolutely say are (or are not) pornographic . . . . It is also
difficult to gauge on which side o the line the film
adaptations of Vladamir Nabokov's Lolita would fall, or if
Edouard Manet's Le Dejeuner sur L'Herbe is pornographic
(or even some of the Calvin Klein advertisements) . . . .

-17-



237 F.3d 251, 264 (3d Cir. 2001). The Bahl court also emphasized that

prohibitions on materials implicated by First Amendment protections ?must

be narrowly tailored and directly related to the goals of protecting the public

and promoting the defendant's rehabilitation.? Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 757. The

community custody condition at issue here carries a very real risk that

reading a certain book, viewing a certain film or painting, or listening to a

certain song will result in violation. It places a prior restraint on Nguyen's

ability to create his own writings and depictions. Neither the State nor the

courts have attempted to show how the prohibition is narrowly tailored to

protect the public or promote Nguyen's rehabilitation. Because the Court of

Appeals does not even attempt to address these constitutional concerns, its

decision conflicts with Bahl necessitating review. RAP 1 3.4(b)(1), (3).

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with Bahl because it

incorrectly assesses whether the conditions would lead to arbitrary

en?forcement. Where a condition gives enormous discretion to an individual

to define the parameters of a prohibition, the condition is innconstitutionally

vague. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 758. The Court of Appeals claims the

"condition allows a sexual deviancy provider to give Nguyen prior approval

to possess such material, but does not give the provider or community

corrections officer the authority to determine the definition of the prohibited

material." Appendix at 11. But, by extending authority to allow or disallow

-18-



certain material, the provider or community custody officer is necessarily

determining whether the material falls within or without the prohibition.

This still allows a third part to ?direct what falls within the condition? which

?only makes the vagueness problem more apparent since it virtually

acknowledges that on its face it does not provide ascertainable standards for

enforcement.? Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 758. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) review are

appropriate given the Coiut of Appeals conflict with Bahl's analysis of

arbitrary enforcement.

The condition also assumes Nguyen will receive guidance from a

sexual deviancy provider as to which materials he may or may not possess.

This additionally conflicts with Bahl, which stmck down a similar condition

not to ?possess or control stimulus material for your particular deviancy as

defined by the supervising Comrnunity Corrections Officer and therapist

except as provided for therapeutic purposes.? Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 761. As

the Bahl court explained, "The condition cannot identify materials that might

be sexually stimulating for a deviancy when no deviancy has been

diagnosed, and this record does not show that any deviancy has yet been

identified.? Id. The same is true here. The condition at issue assumes

Nguyen will have a sexual deviancy provider because he has a sexual

deviancy, even though there is no evidence of a deviancy diagnosis or

-19-



provider. As in Bahl, "the condition is utterly lacking in any notice of what

behavior would violate it.? Id.

In sum, the community custody condition contains no limits. The

various statutory definitions exacerbate the risk of arbitrary enforcement

rather than mitigate it. The ban on "pornography? stmck down in Bahl

provides fairer notice than a ban on all "sexually explicit" and ?erotic"

materials, even in light of the statutory definitions, given that an ordinary

person would understand ?pornography? to cover a much narrower set of

materials. This court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and

(3).

E. CONCLUSION

Because he meets all RAP 13.4(b) criteria, Nguyen asks that this

petition be granted.

4DATED this l? day of August, 2017.