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

E. ARGUMENT 

For the reasons outlined below, this Court should deny 

review of the court of appeals decision regarding the constitutional 

vagueness of the community custody condition. However, this 

court should review the issue of crime-related community-custody 

2 The State was not asked to respond to any of the other issues in the petition. 
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prohibitions in general, and what properly constitutes a prohibition 

that is "reasonably related to the circumstances of the crime." 

However, a different case presently before this Court, State v. 

Norris, supra, presents the issue more broadly and creates a 

conflict between divisions of the court of appeals. 

1. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW ON THE 
VAGUENESS ISSUE. 

RAP 13.4(b) governs consideration of a petition for review. 

It provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the 

Supreme Court only: 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 

with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the 
decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a 

significant question of law under the Constitution of 

the State of Washington or of the United States is 

involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined 

by the Supreme Court. 

In his petition for review, Nguyen largely repeats the 

argument he made below that the community-custody condition 

prohibiting possession of sexually explicit material is 

unconstitutionally vague, and he complains that the court of 

appeals did not agree. But review by this Court is unnecessary 

because the court of appeals' opinion on this issue is succinct, 
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commonsensical and in line with prior opinions of this Court. 

See, e.g .• State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 792, 239 

P.3d 1059 (2010) (community custody condition not 

unconstitutionally vague merely because a person cannot predict 

with complete certainty the exact point at which actions would be 

prohibited). The court of appeals correctly held that the community 

custody condition, which references statutory definitions, is not 

beyond the understanding of ordinary people. 

No significant constitutional issue is presented. This Court 

should not accept review of this issue. 

2. THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE BROADER 
ISSUE OF CRIME-RELATED PROHIBITIONS IN A 
DIFFERENT CASE WITH A PETITION FOR REVIEW 
PRESENTLY BEFORE THIS COURT. 

Despite the fact that the court of appeals sided with the State 

here on the issue of whether the prohibition is reasonably crime

related, the State asks this Court to review more broadly the 

allowable breadth of a prohibition that is "reasonably related to the 

circumstances of the crime." 

Trial courts have authority to impose "crime-related 

prohibitions" as conditions of community custody. RCW 

9.94A.703(3)(f). "Crime-related prohibitions" must "directly relate[] 
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to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been 

convicted[.]" RCW 9.94A.030(10). But such conditions are usually 

upheld if "reasonably crime related." State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 

17, 32, 195 P.3d 940, 947 (2008). For example, in Warren, this 

Court upheld a lifetime prohibition directing Warren to avoid contact 

with the mother of Warren's child-molestation and child-rape 

victims, even though the mother was not a victim. kl at 32. 

Appellate courts review the factual basis for crime-related 

conditions under a "substantial evidence" standard. State v. Irwin, 

191 Wn. App. 644, 656-57, 364 P.3d 830 (2015). Reviewing courts 

will strike community custody conditions when there is "no 

evidence" in the record that the circumstances of the crime related 

to the community custody condition. kl at 657. On the other hand, 

courts will uphold crime-related community custody decisions when 

there is some basis for the connection; there is no requirement that 

the prohibited activity be factually identical to the crime. kl For 

example, in State v. Kinzle, also a child molestation case, the court 

upheld a prohibition on dating women with minor children, even 

though the defendant had not molested children of the women that 

he dated. 181 Wn. App. 774,785, 326 P.3d 870 (2014). 
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Here, the court of appeals properly acknowledged the 

standard of review that affords discretion to the trial court in 

imposing such conditions. And it also acknowledged that 

prohibitions on possessing sexually explicit material are reasonably 

related to the circumstances of sexually victimizing and objectifying 

vulnerable people. 

This Court certainly could accept review in this case to 

address the question of whether the prohibition at issue could only 

be "reasonably related" to the crime if such facts were actually 

involved in the commission of the crime, as opposed to being 

related to its circumstances, i.e., the specific nature of the offense. 

However, Norris, supra, is a better case for the broader legal 

question of how narrowly construed "reasonably related to the 

circumstances of the crime" should be. In Norris, the court of 

appeals reversed a crime-related prohibition on entering sex

related businesses because such businesses were not factually 

involved in the commission of Norris's crimes, but it affirmed the 

prohibition on sexually explicit material because Norris had 

exchanged sex-related text messages with her victim. 404 P.3d at 

87-89. 
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The decision in Norris by Division One conflicts with a 

published opinion by Division Three, State v. Magana, 197 Wn. 

App. 189, 194, 389 P.3d 654,657 (2016), which held the trial court 

had not abused its discretion in imposing prohibitions on sex

related businesses and sexually explicit material: "Because 

Mr. Magana was convicted of a sex offense, conditions regarding 

access to X-rated movies, adult book stores, and sexually explicit 

materials were all crime related and properly imposed." kl at 201. 

The multiple facets of Norris would allow for more thorough 

consideration of the issue of whether under the Sentencing Reform 

Act of 1981 (SRA), the subject of a crime-related community

custody prohibition must have been actually involved in the 

commission of the crime to be reasonably related to the 

circumstances of the crime. 3 The State respectfully suggests this 

3 Nguyen has characterized the State's position as advocating for an "automatic" 

approach wherein prohibitions on sexually explicit materials are always related to 

a// sex offenses per se. See Reply Brief of Appellant at 10. That is not what the 

State argued here or in Norris. While it would be difficult to imagine a situation 

where a prohibition on such materials was not reasonably related to a felony sex 

offense, the State's position is that each case should be determined separately. 

But what is "reasonably related to the circumstances of the crime" should not be 

so rigidly construed to prohibit only those things that were factually involved in 

the commission of the crime. 
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court should deny review of this issue here and accept review of it 

in Norris.4 

F. CONCLUSION 

. The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be 

denied as to the issue of constitutional vagueness. While the State 

agrees review is warranted as to the breadth of crime-related 

community-custody conditions, the issue would be better reviewed 

in State v. Norris, Supreme Court No. 9527 4-4 (petition for review 

filed November 28, 2017), 404 P.3d 83, Court of Appeals No. 

75258-8-1 (Wash. Ct. App. October 30, 2017) . 

. 1~